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After the official establishment of the Society of Jesus by Ignatius of Loyola in 1540, the superiors of this order did not plan to create schools for the laity or to educate them. At first, they educated only their own members because they came from different backgrounds, it is therefore likely that some of them did not have any higher education.
The Jesuits founded their first school in 1548, which was eight years after the founding of the Order. This first school for the laity was established in Messina, Sicily.  After some time, in particular after the discovery that the school activity was of great importance in the dissemination of catechesis, the number of Jesuit schools began to increase. By the time of Ignatius' death in 1556, the Society of Jesus had already established forty schools, and the number evidently continued to grow. By about 1599, the Jesuits already had more than two hundred collegia throughout Europe. 
The basic school code of the Jesuit schools, which guided them throughout their establishment and function, was the so-called Ratio studiorum, which took much longer to create than the Constitutions of the Society of Jesus itself. It is the result of the efforts of several representatives of the Society of Jesus.
The first rule of the teaching was a document called the Fundacion collegio, written by Ignatius of Loyola himself in 1541. However, this regulation only applied to the education of Jesuit scholastics. Two more regulations were issued after this: in 1545 the Constitutiones Collegii Patavini, i.e., the Constitutions of the Collegium of Pavia, and in 1547 another Constitutions for the Collegium of Messina. 
Another important Jesuit who created certain rules was Juan de Polanco. Between 1547 and 1550 his so-called Constitutiones Collegiorum were successively published, as rules valid for all existing collegia. Jesuit schools, for example, continued to be regulated by the Constitutions alone between 1553 and 1556, in which the fourth part is devoted to school education. However, at this time it was not yet a coherent prescription for the form of education. 
More comprehensive school regulations began to be created in years 1565-1572, when the first phase of the creation of school rules began. Gradually, two versions of these rules were created: one in 1565 and the other in 1569. An important figure that contributed to the definitive creation of the Ratio Studiorum was the General of the Order, Claudio Acquaviva (1581 - 1615). A committee was formed within the Order to prepare a draft of the school regulations. This draft was distributed in 1586 to the various provinces of the Society of Jesus for approval, but also for feedback. A similar situation was repeated in 1591, and in 1593-1594, during the 5th General Congregation, the last version of 1591 was approved. Nevertheless, there were still necessary modifications in the drafting of these school regulations. 
The regulation of education itself, entitled Ratio atque Institutio Studiorum Societatis Jesu, was not approved until January 8, 1599. This was valid until 1832. At that time, there was a minor revision of the document and changes in certain points. 
In the first part of this document, the regulations can be found according to who they are addressed to. At the very beginning the regulations for the provincials can be found, then the tasks for the rector of the collegium, and last of all the regulations for the prefect, who was responsible for the studies at the actual school.  At the same time, there are also instructions for individual professors at the school who provided disciplines of philosophical and theological orientation.  Instructions are listed in a certain order: first for professors of Hebrew, biblical studies, scholasticism, and moral theology. These are followed by instructions for professors of ethics and philosophy, and then for professors of mathematics. 
The second part contains the rules for higher education institutions and in particular for those subjects to be taught at the individual faculties. The schedule and number of lessons to be taught can be found here, as well as the textbooks to be used and the teaching methods to be followed.
In the third part of the Ratio Studiorum are included the regulations which were to be followed in the lower schools.  At the same time, there is also a number of other regulations about the number of classes or the number of years that should have been spent in school. In addition, there are also the rules for the admission of students, the method of conducting examinations, and the regulations for the school chapel. The last section of this school code included regulations that dealt with board or out-of-school students and school support staff. 
As already mentioned, in the second part of the Ratio studiorum, the teaching method was also determined, which was to be uniform for all Jesuit schools and had to be followed. It consisted of five parts:
praelectio - a lecture for which the audience should have prepared (praevidendo)
repetitio – repetition
disputatio - disputation according to logical rules under the guidance of the professor
compositio - Latin and Greek style writing exercises
academia - public performance by a group of selected pupils. 
In addition, the Ratio studiorum also determined the composition of the classes of the gymnasium, which was to have five classes, and in addition to those, there was one more - the elementary class:
1st class: elementary (Parva)
2nd class: infima classis grammaticae (Principia)
3rd class: media classis grammaticae (Grammatica)
4th class: suprema classis grammaticae (Syntaxis)
5th class: Humanista (Poetica)
6th class: Rhetorica. 
The emphasis was mainly on learning the languages. The main language that every student had to learn was Latin. Another one was Greek; however, the students usually did not know it on the same level as Latin.  During the four years, students had to master vocabulary, morphology and, of course, grammar. In the following two years they had already mastered grammar and were working on their rhetorical skills. Reading the works of Aristotle, Seneca, Cicero, Virgil, and Horace was supposed to help them to achieve this. The student was to acquire such oratorical knowledge that he would be able to deliver an immediate speech on any occasion. 
Jesuits also included theatre in their teaching. Although there is no rule in the Ratio studiorum that would regulate the status of the theatre, its inclusion in the teaching was very important, mainly for the sake of developing the students’ speaking skills, moral education and also to present the school to public. 
After the graduation, Jesuit students continued their studies at the philosophical (artistic) faculty of the university. The study of philosophy itself lasted for three years and was devided to three parts: logic, physics, and metaphysics. Mathematics (arithmetics, algebra, and geometry) was still studied in second year, and ethics in the third. The works of Aristotle and, in part, Thomas Aquinas were the basis for all the teaching. 
After completing their philosophical studies, some students continued on to the Faculty of Theology. Lectures on the Holy Scriptures, scholastic and positive theology, speculative theology and church law were the basis of the teaching. The studies usually lasted four years. After graduation, ordination to the priesthood followed, and thus the Jesuit was prepared for his future ministry. 
The Jesuit schools were characterized by this statement: It is essential to our religious vocation that we accept no material rewards for the spiritual services to which we devote ourselves, according to our religious formation, in order to help our neighbors spiritually.  This shows that their schools were not only popular with Catholics, but Protestant children often studied there as well, as can be seen in the case of Levoča.
Jesuit Gymnasium in Spišská Kapitula (1648 - 1672)
The members of the Jesuits have been engaged in their educational activities in Spišská Kapitula almost from the moment of their arrival. The school started its activity in 1648 in the new building of the Codria. The school was led by the prefect of the school, namely Father Paul Szuhai, and the first four classes were opened: parva, principia, grammatica and syntax. At that time there was only a Jesuit mission in Spišská Kapitula, which had only three members, secular teachers taught at this gymnasium in the first years. According to the Synopsis, these were Ignatius Petricius, George Bohemus and Václav Koszolius. 
In the Jesuit Synopsis there is also very interesting information about the Piarist collegium, which was founded in 1642 in Podolínec and its founder was Stanisław Lubomirski,  the captain of the Province of 13 Szepes Towns. The chronicler points out that several students from the Piarist collegium transferred to the Jesuit gymnasium in Spišská Kapitula and the consequence of such transfers was the resentment of Stanisław Lubomirski and, as the chronicler writes: He even strictly forbade his subjects to send their sons to us. Those who were already with us were to be forcibly taken back and their parents were to be punished, which took place at Ľubovnian Castle. There some were put in chains, others were caned and beaten in various other ways. 
Ever since the opening of the gymnasium the Jesuits and their students faced a big issue, which was the accommodation of the students, because the Protestant inhabitants of Spišské Podhradie refused to accommodate them. That is why only about 20 students lived directly in Spišská Kapitula, in a building near the provost's garden, and many others lived in the surrounding villages of Jablonov and Studenec and commuted from there to school every day. 
In the following year, 1649, the Jesuits continued with the building of the residence in order to have at least some premises for their activities and managed to complete the refectory with a kitchen and several bedrooms. Since the school year usually started in November, this year was not an exception. The school year ceremonially started in November and was opened with a lecture by magister Ladislav Mártonfalvay  in the presence of the canons of Spišská Kapitula and the provost himself.
In the same year, another important event took place: Ladislav and Stefan Csáky, sons of the Spiš Mayor Stefan Csáky, became students of the Jesuit Gymnasium, and he entrusted them to the Jesuits for education. The sons of other noble families and some Protestants were also attending the collegium. The Synopsis also mentions Ladislav Wesselényi (Vešelényi) who was the second-born son of Ferenc Wesselényi of Hadad, captain of the Mountain Hungary. However, these noble sons were not accommodated among the other students, but in the residence of the provost of Spiš himself, Matej Tarnóczy, who is known to have provided accommodation for up to twelve noble sons. 
Since 1649, the teaching of moral theology began, in which Father Jan Klobusiczki was an expert, who also encouraged the students to hold public disputations, in which they practiced. In addition to these events, the students participated in theatrical performances, which they themselves acted out for the public and which were organized on important religious holidays. In the Jesuit school system, it was the theatrical performances of their students that played an important role in their educational activities.
In 1650 the school had two teachers, Master Ignatius Mártonfalvay, who taught rhetors and poets, and Master Stephen Bacai, who was in charge of the grammar class. 
In 1651 there were three teachers: the first was Father Ignatius Mártonfalvay, who was in charge of the rhetoric and poetics classes, followed by Father John Vasarheli, who taught the grammar class, and Father John Ujfalvi, who was in charge of the principals' class.  In that year, several students also transferred to the Jesuit gymnasium in Košice in order to learn Hungarian, but despite their departure, the Jesuit gymnasium in Spišská Kapitula had a sufficient number of students, and the Synopsis reveals that in 1652 there were as many as 100 students. There were still three teachers present: Ján Vasarheli and Ján Ujfalvi, but the previous Ignatius Mártonfalvay was replaced this year by Anton Haller, who taught the upper classes. 
In the following year, 1653, the building which the provost of Spiš Matej Tarnóczy had built for the needs of the collegium was finally completed and the kitchen, which had been repaired earlier, was added to it, and additional new bedrooms were also put into use.  At the same time, however, in that year Matej Tarnóczy left Spišská Kapitula, which meant that Jesuits lost their donor and protector.
In the following year, 1654, the Gymnasium had a sufficient number of students, although Synopsis does not give a specific number, it informs that in that year a plague epidemic spread in the region, for which reason classes were interrupted for one month. Eventually, according to the words of the chronicler, the plague stopped spreading and turned in a different direction, so teaching was renewed. 
The following period of 1655 and 1656 was generally quiet and all classes were taught. Students of the lower grades were also involved in public speaking, taking part in three public disputations in 1655 and 1656. The first one was held at the end of the school year and was associated with the award ceremony for the most skilful students. The other two were held on Good Friday and on the feast of Corpus Christi, both in the Slovak language. 
In 1657 the number of students was slightly lower, but the following year the situation improved, and the number of students increased to the same level as in the previous years, i.e., approximately 100 students.  The number of professors was kept at three, each of whom was in charge of two grades.
In the Synopsis there is an interesting account in 1660 that the classes of poetics and rhetoric were not opened in that year on account of the strictness of one of the teachers, but his name is not mentioned. For this reason, the students of the classes in question left for other Jesuit schools, and in the school year 1660/61 only the first four classes were opened in Spišská Kapitula. 
At the same time, in 1660, for the first time, we encounter the report that the teacher of the first and second year, Mikuláš Hrabowski, was in charge of matters relating to theatrical plays (habet curam rerum comicarum). 
In the next school year, 1661/62, both poetics and rhetoric students returned, and the school year passed in a quiet atmosphere until June 1662, when another plague broke out and the school was closed from August 1662 until February 8, 1663. During this period the total number of students who probably succumbed to this epidemic declined, and this caused classes to open in February 1663 only up to the syntax class. 
The following year, the plague epidemic spread again, causing the school year 1664/65 to open not in November as was the custom, but only on December 1. All classes were opened and in the following year, 1665, students from the Jesuit gymnasium in Uzhhorod were admitted to the gymnasium in Spišská Kapitula. This was due to the consequences of a plague epidemic in the Uzhhorod area, where the Jesuits were forced to close the gymnasium. 
The Jesuit gymnasium was closed once more in 1670, due to the riots, when anti-Habsburg rebels appeared in Spiš. It was completely closed in 1672 and in 1673 it was transferred to Levoča.
Jesuit Gymnasium and Convent in Levoča
Part of the Jesuits from Spišská Kapitula moved to Levoča in 1671 and started to repair the acquired buildings and the church. Also, in the same year they started the construction of the school building, which was completed in July 1672 and immediately in autumn they started to teach at the gymnasium, which was transferred here from the Spišská Kapitula. In 1673 even theatrical performances began. One example is the theatrical performance Semiramis, which was performed by students of the Rhetoric and Poetics classes on March 14, 1673  and even repeated on April 6. 
The students were also involved in organizing the first procession in Levoča on the Feast of Corpus Christi on June 4, 1673. They built a stage in the square and this procession also took place near the Evangelical Church of St. James, where the Second Gospel was read.  The procession was held in Latin and German. However, in 1674, during the takeover of St. James' Church, the students also sang in Slovak. 
On May 10, 1673, the construction of one part of the school was completed  and on July 17, a bell was installed on the school tower to call the students to class. 
The school year traditionally ended in September. In 1673 it ended on September 12, but before that the Valedictio rhetorum et poetarum was held on September 7 and the Valedictio syntaxistarum et grammatistarum on September 9. 
The Jesuits began the year 1681 calmly, and as early as January 1, 1681, we find in their chronicle a record of a recitation by the students after Vespers.  Also in 1681, a procession to the Marian Hill was held on July 2. The procession began at seven o'clock in the morning and lasted until eleven o'clock, when it was completed before noon. The students of the gymnasium also participated in it. 
On September 3, 1682, the town of Levoča joined Thököly's side and on that day the Protestants took away all churches, parish, monasteries, and school from the Catholics. All Catholic priests and monks had to leave the city. 
The Jesuits did not return to Levoča until 14 March 1686. This is supported by the information from the Jesuit chronicle, where it is recorded that on this very day John Radeczy , the superior of Levoča, with the help of two Spiš canons, Andrej Berzeviczy and Daniel Szentmáriay, took over the keys to the church and the residence. 
The Jesuits then proceeded to repair these buildings, which had been destroyed, and on June 17, 1686, the repair of two classrooms was completed.  At the same time, in the same year, a procession was held on July 2 to the Marian Hill , and in addition, the Gymnasium itself began to function and was reopened on July 15, 1686. 
On November 23, 1689, the Jesuit residence in Levoča was elevated to the status of a collegium by the General of the Order, Thyrsus González de Santalla.  As the chronicle mentions, in 1692 two fires struck the collegium: the first one broke out on April 23 due to the carelessness of one of the friars, Father Melchior - a smoker  and the second one on June 9 after the lightning struck the tower of the church. However, it was extinguished with the help of the students, who distinguished themselves with their help. As a reward for this help, they were given the next day off. 
The second institution that was founded by the Society of Jesus in Levoča was the so-called Noble Convict. One of the biggest problems that the Jesuits and their students encountered in this town was precisely the accommodation of the students, because the people of Levoča, who were evangelical, refused to provide them with housing.However, this situation was resolved in 1694 and was initiated by the Archbishop of Esztergom, Juraj Széchenyi, who on February 5, 1694, established a foundation of 80,000 Rhenish gold coins, which were to be used to found two Jesuit convents, in Trenčín and Levoča.  This money came from the proceeds of the archbishop's estates in Orava and was to be divided exactly in half between the two convents.
	However, Archbishop Juraj Széchenyi of Esztergom defined the scope of these institutions in a few points and laid down a number of conditions for their functioning. These conditions were as follows:
1. After the examinations were passed, the young men were to be admitted without distinction of status.
2. The Jesuits had to promise to work well, and to give an annual account of the administration of the convent and of the education of the youth.
3. Sons of the fatherland, especially sons of meritorious nobility, converts, or even those who have rejected heresy and who have a vocation according to canon law, are to be admitted to the convent. They should know two or three languages - in Spiš also German. If they were indigent, they should also receive clothing and provision.
4. Students under 12 years of age are not to be admitted. The rector has the right to punish or even dismiss those who have bad behavior or do not want to learn.
5. At the discretion of the Provincial, the number of convents with administrators and teachers and the necessary staff is to be determined.
6. The Jesuits may invest the basic capital and purchase property with it. They may, however, use it only within the meaning and for the purposes of this Charter.
7. Should these convents cease to exist, the sum is to be transferred, at the decision of the General or Provincial of the Society of Jesus, to other similar convents in Hungary or abroad, intended for the education of Hungarian noblemen-Catholics. 
In the meantime, however, the Archbishop of Esztergom, Juraj Széchenyi, died and after his death the initiative was taken by the Hungarian monarch Leopold I, who on December 12, 1695, authorized the chief chamberlain of the Banská Bystrica chamber to take over the archbishop's Orava estates and to pay the two convents 6% interest on the income of the foundation annually. 
Already on November 2, 1694, Jakub Supka  from Trenčín took over 3000 gold coins, of which he sent 1000 to the Jesuits in Levoča for the purchase of the necessary building for the convent.  In this situation and after receiving the given sum, the rector of the Levoča Jesuit Collegium began to think about the choice and purchase of a building in Levoča. On July 17, 1696, when the rector of the Levoča Collegium, Henrich Berzeviczym , managed to raise additional money from the foundation, the Society of Jesus bought the buildings, which originally belonged to the Carthusians in the 15th century and were located in the southern part of the town near the city walls. These included the former monastery, the church of St Lawrence and a piece of land near the church, which originally served as a cemetery.  These properties belonged to the Jesuits since 1604, when they were granted to them by the provost of Spiš, Martin Pethe, and in 1674 their possession was renewed, but due to the resistance of the population of Levoča, the Jesuits were not allowed to use them or to take them over. The Society of Jesus solved this unfortunate situation only now by purchasing them. The provost of Spiš evaluated the buildings for the sum of 1000 rhenish guilders. 
In the following years, the priests worked on the reconstruction and rebuilding. These were two oblong buildings which, although ruined and dilapidated, could be gradually repaired. In 1697 the foundations for the new buildings were dug and building materials were purchased. In 1698 the foundation stone for the future convent building was laid, which was connected to the corridor of the original building. 
Work continued in the following years 1699 and 1700. In 1701 there was a short interruption with the arrival of the new rector, Karl Schretter , but in 1702 the repairs were resumed.
From 1703 the matter of repairing these buildings was entrusted to Father Setfan Pethö , who held the new office of regensa convictus , i.e., he was occupied with the activities concerning the convent.
However, the situation became more complicated during the rebellion of Francis II. Rákoczi, which broke out in the meantime, and the people of Levoča joined his side. Even in the records of the Levoča Convent in 1705 there is a note that the Orava estates, from which the money for the repair of the buildings should have come, were occupied by the rebels, and therefore the money for the repair did not come.  This, of course, caused the stagnation of the repairs and of the opening of the convent itself.
At the same time, this overall situation and the rebels forced the Jesuits to leave the town, or rather the Jesuit friars were chased out, they left Levoča on January 23, 1707, and took refuge in Krakow. Only two friars remained in the monastery building, Stefan Pethö, whose illness did not allow him to leave and so he stayed behind, and Father Adam Andrianski  who took care of his fellow friar. However, Stefan did not live to see the return of his confreres, because on February 23, 1707, he died and was buried in the crypt of the Jesuit college. 
The chronicle of the convent for the years 1708 and 1709 contains information according to which the repairs of the convent were not continued and there was only one priest in Levoča, the aforementioned Adam Andrianski. However, after the siege of Levoča on February 13, 1710, the rebels finally surrendered, and the Jesuits were able to return to Levoča once again. The first to return in 1710 was Father František Stephanovski, an economist.  In the subsequent year he was followed by the new rector of the college, Mr. Andrej Szöreni, Mr. Ján Ladislavski (seminary superior, Sunday preacher), Mr. Ján Soller (preacher and catechist), Mr. Ignác Paap (responsible for teaching at the gymnasium) and Fathers Andrej Prieller and Matúš Dünszpökh, who were coadjutors. 
But on their return the Jesuits found all the buildings partially destroyed and, as they were located directly outside the walls, the roofs of the convent and the chapel had also been burnt. The friars, however, set about repairing the damage, rebuilding the roofs, and remodelling the convent building. The convent was finally inaugurated on October 13, 1711, 18 years after the foundation was laid by Archbishop Széchenyi of Esztergom. The first regent of the Convent after its official opening was Mr. Jan Ladislavski  and his assistant was Mr. Ignatius Paap. Nineteen students were admitted to the Convent in that very first year. 
Construction activity continued even after the opening of the convent, as the buildings were not yet completed and some of the premises were used only on a temporary basis. For example, in 1714 the convent's single roof was completed, but many people did not like it because the original roof was covered with an attic and was a system of several cross roofs. 
In 1716, the building was further improved when the new regent, Juraj Abrahamfi , had the building decorated, new windows were installed in the lower part and the dormitory for students was provided with a vault. At the same time, a portal was built on which the founder's stone coat of arms was placed, and the facade above the windows was also decorated with stucco. A phylagorium was even built in the garden.   
In the following year, the church, i.e., the former chapel of St. Lawrence , was vaulted, and in 1721, for example, the church received an organ from the Levoča master organist Lawrence, and small bells were also added to the church's equipment. Gradually, the convent building was repaired to make it suitable for housing and to improve the conditions for students in the future. 
In the following entries of the convent chronicle the gradual addition of other convent facilities can be traced. In 1722, for example, the church of St. Lawrence received new liturgical equipment: a new cassock, pulchra with stole, maniple, velum for the chalice, burse and palla.  In 1723, the windows in the lower part of the building were repaired, and at the same time the choir in St. Lawrence Church was repaired and painted.  In 1734, the church of St. Lawrence was enriched with ornamental decoration and at the same time a statue of St. John of Nepomuk was added. 
The students in the convent were divided, as in the gymnasium, into individual classes, i.e., rhetorica, poetica, syntax, grammatica, principia and parva, and they were also divided into those who paid (solvens) and those who did not pay (alumnus).
Among them there are many sons of prominent noble families not only from Spiš, but also from other areas of Hungary, who paid for their stay from their own means, i.e., their parents paid for it. In 1713, for example, a total of eighteen students can be found in the chronicle of the convent, some with the following names: Valentín Almassi, Baltazár Görgei, Žigmund Melczl, Štefan Mariassi, František Pelcz, Juraj and Štefan Mattyasovski, Samuel Krasovski, or Václav Krumpach.  In the following years, among other well-known names we can find names like Dessöfi, Berzeviczy, Görgey, Hadvabny, Pongrácz, Kubínyi, Palocz, Rumann, or Smrecsányi. The number of pupils in the convent was around 20 to 30 persons per year, and the number fluctuated from year to year.
Since one of the aims of the convent was not only to teach the students, but also to raise them, one of the means of education was theatrical performances, which the inmates rehearsed in their spare time and later also performed in public. There has been preserved an account according to which in 1713 the students performed a comedy in which many people, including non-Catholics took part. 
In addition, many of the inmates came from non-Catholic backgrounds, but some, influenced by this upbringing, changed their religion, converted, and eventually became Catholics. For example, in 1718 we find a record of a student who originally attended the Evangelical Lyceum in Levoča, but after transferring to the convent decided to convert. 
In the following years we also find similar records, e.g., in 1724 there were two students in the convent - one Evangelical and the other Calvinist, who converted to the Catholic faith, although the reaction of their parents was contradictory at first, but later they accepted this change of religion. 
Another example of conversion is Štefan Papp, who was a student of syntax and decided to convert in June 1733.  Another student for whom we have a record of his conversion from the Protestant faith is Adam Ridhauser, who became a Catholic in 1737.  Ten years later, in 1747, we find an entry in the chronicle of the convent, according to which two students of the principia class, Baltazár Kissely and František Lehoczky, transferred to the Jesuit gymnasium in Levoča ex scholis haereticorum. 
A particular record of the conversion was preserved in 1755, when the grammarian Michal Horvatovszki  converted to the Catholic faith and the grammar student Jozef Udvardi  joined the next year. One of the last records of student conversion is the information from 1769, according to which grammar student Ján Nepomuk Pongrácz was to convert to the Catholic faith. 
The students were also engaged in other activities, such as pilgrimages to the Marian Hill, and the Congregation of the Assumed Virgin Mary, which dates back to 1649, and was transferred here from Spišská Kapitula. 
The convent succeeded in educating a considerable number of future Catholic intellectuals, who were then employed not only in the sphere of church life, but also in the secular sphere. Even after the dissolution of the Society of Jesus in 1773, the convent did not cease to exist, but in the chronicle of the convent we find entries up to the school year 1783/1784. 
In the period after the abolition of the Society of Jesus, the former Jesuit Stefan Lipkay  was at the head of the convent until 1776, because the papal breve allowed the Jesuits to become secular priests and to continue their activities. However, on the basis of the Ratio educationis of 1777, this gymnasium became a state gymnasium, and the minorities were given the authority to run it. However, despite this situation, Paul Ocskai, a former Jesuit priest, was at the head of the convent and of the gymnasium itself. 
In 1785, however, the Convict was abolished as a result of the reform policy of Joseph II. Finally, in 1817 the building of the convent was bought by the town of Levoča and barracks were established there.  
Piarist Education in the Spiš Region
Two key figures played a crucial role in the establishment of the Piarist college in Podolínec: the provincial of the Moravian Piarists, Onufrius Conti, and the Polish prince Stanisław Lubomirski, the mayor (captain) of the Province of the 13 Spiš towns, which had been under Polish pledge since 1412.
As a devout Catholic, Stanisław Lubomirski was determined to spread the Catholic faith within his domain. This led him to take an active interest in the Piarist order, especially after the Jesuits—whom he had previously invited—declined his offer in favor of an invitation from the Spiš county governor, Štefan Csáky.
Following discussions between Conti and Lubomirski, Stanisław Lubomirski promised to build a monastery in Podolínec for sixteen members of the Piarist order. In addition, he pledged an endowment (an annual interest of 8,000 florins) and to furnish the house with all necessary equipment. During the construction, the Piarists were to be housed in the local castle, and land for the future college was chosen on the left bank of the Poprad River. Meanwhile, Conti met with nine Piarists who had left Lipník and were staying in Nový Jičín—these men would later form the core community in Podolínec.
A significant event occurred on November 20, 1642, when Conti brought the first members of the Piarist order—eighteen in total—from Lipník and Mikulov to the provisional monastery in Podolínec. The group consisted of three ordained priests, five brothers, and ten novices. The monastery was placed under the leadership of Ján Franco, who was also responsible for caring for the novices, thus serving as the novice master.
The official inauguration of the Piarist college took place on December 10, 1642, attended by representatives of the Kraków bishopric and chapter, the Spiš provost Ladislav Hoszutóthy, and, of course, Stanisław Lubomirski himself. During the Mass celebrated by Ján Franco, the foundation charter was read aloud, and after the Mass, the Kraków canon Sapelius blessed the cornerstone of the future college and placed a wooden cross upon it. The future church was to be dedicated to St. Stanislaus, the Polish bishop and martyr.
On June 18, 1643, the Piarists opened a school in the castle premises where they were residing. However, as construction of the new college was underway at the time, they only opened the first two classes: the Schola Legendi and the Schola Grammaticae. Frater Lukáš of St. Louis (František Lucas) was in charge of teaching in the first, while Father Augustín of St. Charles (Augustín Strinboch) taught in the second.
In this inaugural year, as many as 189 students enrolled. The official name of the school was: Scholae Latinae scilicet Principiorum et Grammaticae. The classes continued the following year, but an epidemic in 1645–1646 caused a six-month interruption in teaching. Some students also transferred to Spišská Kapitula, where the Society of Jesus (Jesuits) had opened their own grammar school.
In addition to these issues, the situation of the Piarists became more complicated in 1646, when Pope Innocent X downgraded the order to a congregation. However, Polish King Władysław IV Vasa continued to protect Piarist monasteries within his kingdom.
Despite the challenges, in 1646 the Piarists managed to open a Syntax class, with Glycerius of All Saints (Glycerius Neumann) as its first professor. In 1648, they opened a Poetics class, taught by Václav Opatowski, and in 1651, the highest class—Rhetoric—was opened, with František Martinus as professor. That same year, philosophical studies were also successfully introduced.
The Piarist school was attended mostly by poor students, who received financial support from Stanisław Lubomirski and later from his descendants. It is known that in 1646, when Lubomirski was returning from a stay at the spa in Vyšné Ružbachy and saw the poor conditions of some students, he decided to help them and donated 800 Polish florins.
Regarding the construction of the new college, work progressed quickly that year. By late July 1643, the foundations of the church, monastery, and school had already been laid. Several master builders and about 40 laborers worked on the site. However, the situation worsened in 1645, when the aforementioned epidemic spread through Podolínec and its surroundings, slowing down construction and threatening to halt it entirely.
Fortunately, work resumed fully in 1647, and by 1648, the construction of the school, monastery, and economic buildings was completed. On June 28, 1648, the new college was ceremonially opened, followed by the opening of the new school on July 12.
As previously mentioned, in September 1648, a philosophy program was launched, taught by Kazimierz Pietraskiewicz, a professor from Kraków, with Václav Opatowski serving as the second lecturer. This course of study lasted two years and was combined with a two-year novitiate. Only students who had completed the rhetoric class with excellent academic results were eligible to enroll. This advanced study, known as studia suprema, was designed to prepare students for further theological education. However, these philosophical studies were also open to lay students.
By the 1650s, the grammar school had a fully developed curriculum, consisting of the following classes: parva, principia, grammar, syntax, poetics, and rhetoric. In addition to these, a German class was also established, primarily to admit German-speaking students, most of whom came from Protestant families in the Spiš region. The goal was to facilitate their conversion to the Catholic faith. This German class existed until around 1673–1674.
A significant event occurred in 1651 with the completion of the Church of St. Stanislaus. On May 20, 1651, the church was consecrated by the Bishop of Kraków, Piotr Gembicki. This marked a major improvement in the pastoral activities of the Piarists, as they now had a church in which they could celebrate Mass, preach, and hear confessions.
In 1662, the college suffered a major disaster. According to the chronicler, on the morning of August 6, 1662, the Poprad River and its tributaries flooded, inundating much of the town. The monastery itself, located near the river, was also affected. This event made it clear that the choice of location for the monastery had been poorly suited in terms of flood risk.
Another calamity—affecting not only the Piarists but also the local population—was the plague that began spreading at the end of August 1664, claiming the lives of over 1,500 residents. When the townsman Krištof Gallus lost his entire family to the plague, he decided to donate his property to the Piarists, which was of great help to them during this difficult time.
In 1668, the college received support from Ondrej Tomasovský, a citizen of Kežmarok, who established an endowment for Piarist students: from the invested 1,000 Hungarian florins, the Piarists were to receive annual interest of 70 florins. In 1670, this endowment was further increased by Spiš canon Juraj Lenczowics, and the Piarists continued receiving this support until 1681.
On February 28, 1669, the entire monastery was struck by a devastating fire, which began spreading around six in the evening. According to the chronicler, the church was spared from the flames, as well as part of the monastery. The library was also saved, as the books were quickly moved to a safer location.
In 1671, two significant events occurred at the college. The first took place on June 7, the third Sunday after Pentecost: the ceremonial consecration of the church, carried out by Kraków bishop Mikołaj Oborski. Along with the church, four new altars were consecrated: the first was dedicated to St. Stanislaus, bishop and martyr; the second to the Holy Cross; the third to the Visitation of the Virgin Mary; and the fourth, located in the chapel, to St. Philip Neri.
The second major event that year was the transfer of the parish in Spišská Belá into the hands of the Piarists. According to Stanisław Lubomirski, this was meant to support the re-Catholicization of the territory under his administration. The newly appointed parish priest was Father Glycerius Neumann, who, this time, was not appointed by the bishop of Kraków, but by the archbishop of Esztergom through the Spiš provost, Juraj Bársony. At this point, the Piarists already held pastoral control over the parishes in Hniezdne and in Podolínec itself.
In addition to these two major events, the Piarists expanded their missionary activities. In 1671, efforts toward intensified re-Catholicization in the Spiš provostship were led by Provost Juraj Bársony, and from that time on, the Piarists operated throughout the Province of the 13 Spiš Towns, which were under the administration of Lubomirski.
The first of these towns was Spišské Vlachy, where Father František of St. Wenceslas (Ján Alexander Hanácius) served. According to the chronicle, he was attacked with stones by “heretics.” Also active in Spišské Vlachy were Šimon of St. Francis and Ján of the Holy Cross.
A Piarist mission also operated in Spišská Nová Ves, where Father Alexius of St. Joseph and Father Ján of the Holy Cross carried out pastoral work. A similar mission existed in Ľubica, initially served by Father Šimon of St. Francis and Father Ján of the Holy Cross, and later by Father Ján Martin of the Nativity of the Lord, Father Dominik of the Holy Cross, and Father Edmund of Jesus.
With the approval of Spiš provost Bársony, the Piarists also served in Toporec and Krigov, where they were especially tasked with influencing the local Polish- and Slovak-speaking population. These missions were led by Father Tomáš of St. Stephen.
On October 10, 1684, the town of Podolínec was struck by a major disaster—a fire that destroyed the entire college and church. As the chronicler wrote, only the “bare stone walls” remained. As a result, the Piarists temporarily left Podolínec, most likely seeking refuge in their Polish houses, since their residences in Prievidza and Brezno were unsafe due to the uprising of Imre Thököly.
The college was able to recover primarily thanks to the support of numerous individuals, who in the following year made financial donations or offered help in the form of goods and supplies. Among these benefactors were Countess Keglevich, Ondrej Moszenski, Ondrej Berzeviczy—vicar of the Archbishop of Esztergom—as well as parish priests from Spišská Sobota and Hniezdne. The organ was not restored until 1692, and repairs on the college continued until at least 1695, when an upper floor was added to the western wing to serve as a novitiate residence in the future.
One of the most significant features of the Piarist college in Podolínec was its location and the existence of a novitiate, where mostly Polish novices prepared for their religious vocation. This fact, along with the strategic location of the college, greatly facilitated the spread of the Piarists into other parts of Poland and also into Hungary.
In fact, from Podolínec in 1658, a group of novices went to Rzeszów, where they established a new college. A similar event occurred in 1664, when several novices departed for Kraków, where another college was founded.
The location of Podolínec also played a crucial role in the expansion of the Piarist Order within Hungary. As early as 1643, Archbishop Juraj Lippay of Esztergom attempted to establish a college in Jasov, though this effort was unsuccessful. A Piarist college in Hungary was finally established in 1666 in Prievidza, thanks to the foundress Countess Františka Kheun Pálffy, who created an endowment of 25,000 florins. The foundation stone was laid on August 25, 1666, and by November 8, the first four grammar school classes had already been opened.
The Piarist Order is considered one of the most important teaching orders, with its primary mission being education and youth formation. The same applied in Podolínec, where the Piarists dedicated themselves to teaching from the moment of their arrival, opening their first school on June 18, 1643. While the Jesuits focused on higher education, the Piarists concentrated on elementary education, making it more accessible to students from poorer backgrounds.
From 1651 onward, the following classes were present in Podolínec:
Classis Infirmista
Parvista
Principista
Grammatista
Poeta
Rhetorica
And a one-year course in Arithmetic.
After completing these studies, students could progress to a higher level of education, consisting of a three-year philosophy program, followed by theology. The language of instruction was, of course, Latin.
During the first thirty years of the existence of the Piarist college and its school, we can observe students coming from Czech and German regions, as well as from Austria and Bavaria. The presence of Czech, Moravian, and German students was caused by the overall situation in Moravia during the Thirty Years’ War, when the Piarists were forced to leave the region for their safety and abandoned their houses in Lipník nad Bečvou and Mikulov.
In the 1680s, the situation changed, and the majority of students began to come from the Kingdom of Hungary. However, this trend lasted only until around 1711, when the Polish element started to become more dominant. This shift was likely due to developments in Hungary, where by this time numerous Jesuit schools had already been established, and thus Hungarian youth increasingly studied at domestic institutions. For example, in 1700, out of 365 students, as many as 85% were Polish. A higher number of Polish students was also recorded during the years 1654–1656, as a result of the Swedish-Polish War.
As for the residence of Polish students, they came mainly from the surrounding areas, especially from the Diocese of Kraków, Lesser Poland (Małopolska), the Galicia region, and even from more distant parts of Poland. Students of Hungarian origin mostly came from the vicinity of Podolínec, the wider Spiš region, and the western part of Šariš. By the end of the 17th century, a greater number of students from Liptov also began to appear. Alongside Catholics, there were also a few Protestant students, many of whom later converted to Catholicism.
[bookmark: _GoBack]Based on the information provided in the previous sections, we can conclude that the Piarists developed a rich educational activity and provided schooling to a large number of students. However, this period of growth in Piarist education was disrupted during the reign of Maria Theresa by the issuance of the Ratio Educationis in 1777, which established a uniform school system in Hungary.
